
D R A F T

 

Minutes 
OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE FORT PIERCE HISTORIC PRESERVATION BOARD HELD
ON MONDAY, MARCH 25, 2024, IN FORT PIERCE CITY HALL, COMMISSION CHAMBERS, 100
NORTH US HIGHWAY 1, FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA.
 
 

               
1. CALL TO ORDER
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 
3. ROLL CALL
Present:  Minnie Spivey; Andrea Anicito; Anthony Westbury; KeAndrea Davis, Vice-Chair;

Betty Jo Starke; Patrece Frisbee; Charlie Hayek, Chairman 

Staff Present:  Sara Hedges, City Attorney
Kev Freeman, Planning Director
Andrea Duenas, Assistant City Attorney
Maria Lewicka, Historic Preservation Planner
Alicia Rosenthal, Executive Assistant

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
 
a. Minutes from the February 26, 2024, Historic Preservation Board meeting   

 
  Motion was made by Andrea Anicito, and seconded by Betty Jo Starke to approve the

minutes from the February 26, 2024, meeting. 

  AYE:  Andrea Anicito, Anthony Westbury, Vice-Chair KeAndrea Davis, Betty Jo Starke,
Patrece Frisbee, Minnie Spivey, Chairman Charlie Hayek 

Passed 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
 



 
b. CONTINUED HEARING - Conditional Use Application - Expansion of the Existing

Outdoor Entertainment Area - 411 N. 2nd Street

Chairman Hayek recused himself. 

The City Attorney explained the Quasi-Judicial Hearing procedures.

When acting as a quasi-judicial body, the Board is held to certain procedural requirements.
 Quasi-judicial proceedings are less formal than proceedings before a circuit court, but are
more formal than the other aspects of today’s meeting. Quasi-judicial proceedings must follow
basic standards of notice and due process, and decisions must be made based on competent
substantial evidence. Therefore, board members have a duty to conduct quasi-judicial
proceedings more like judges than legislators.  This afternoon, the Board will follow the same
uniform procedure in all quasi-judicial hearings.

The clerk introduced the Conditional Use Application for expansion of the existing outdoor
entertainment area located at 411 N. 2nd Street, Pierced Ciderworks.

Vice-Chair Davis called the proceeding to order. 

The clerk confirmed the City complied with the advertisement requirements. 

Vice-Chair Davis inquired with the Board regarding ex-parte communications and asked the
Clerk to call the roll:                                                        

Mr. Westbury - no
Ms. Starke - no
Dr. Frisbee - yes
Ms. Spivey - no
Ms. Anicito - yes
Vice-Chair Davis - no
 
Vice-Chair Davis opened the public hearing.

The clerk was asked to swear in those wanting to speak during this Quasi-Judicial hearing.
Individuals in the audience intending to speak on the item were asked to stand, raise their
right hand, and administered an oath to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth. 

Staff Presentation:
Maria Lewicka, Historic Preservation Planner, gave a brief presentation on the Conditional
Use application being continued from the February 26, 2024, meeting. Ms. Lewicka stated the
applicant is requesting approval to expand the existing outdoor entertainment area on a
designated historic site within the Edgartown Settlement Zoning District. The proposed
expansion deviates from City Code Section 125-197(j), which allows for a maximum of 800
square feet of exterior space, whereas the proposed outdoor area will be approximately 5,000
square feet. Ms. Lewicka stated Code Enforcement initiated a case against the property
where Sec. 125-197 – Edgartown Settlement (ES) Zoning District was violated. The Special
Magistrate decided the business was in violation and the business was to reduce the area
utilized for exterior restaurant/pub use to 800 square feet or obtain a Conditional Use permit
to extend the area allowed to be utilized for exterior restaurant/pub use.  Ms. Lewicka showed
an aerial view of the location of the expanded entertainment area.  Ms. Lewicka stated it is up
to the Historic Preservation Board to decide if the Conditional Use is granted to the
applicant/owner, or to the location/parcel. If granted to the applicant/owner, it would expire

  

100 NORTH US 1, FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34950  • CITYOFFORTPIERCE.COM • TEL: 772.467.3000 • FAX: 772.466.5808

Minutes of Historic Preservation Board - March 25, 2024
Page 2 



with the property's sale. If granted to the location/parcel, the Conditional Use could be
transferred to the subsequent property owner(s).

Board questions for staff: Vice-Chair Davis asked if all provisions of Chapter 26 must be
followed. Ms. Lewicka agreed. 

Applicant Presentation: Jon Nolli, owner of Pierced Ciderworks, sworn, stated the property is
approximately 20,038 square feet. He said 800 square feet is less than 4% of the total
property and the proposed 5,000 square feet is less than 25% of the total ground.  He noted
the city wanted Edgartown to be an eclectic area and Sailfish Brewery, which was at the
same location, had to relocate due to the same issues he is having. Mr. Nolli said the outdoor
area will not work at 800 square feet, and it is impossible to have his business with such
constraints; it is impractical and not enforceable. He asked how he was supposed to keep
people from assembling in other outdoor areas.  He said the customers would feel like
cattle.

Board questions for Applicant: Ms. Starke asked which direction the entertainment speakers
were facing and if the issue with the space utilization was the noise or the people coming and
going. Ms. Anicito asked Mr. Nolli what he was asking for if the 5,000 square feet
entertainment area was not sufficient. Mr. Nolli stated he wants full use of his property.  Ms.
Anicito asked if it would be fair to use the entire space with a 10-foot landscape buffer to keep
the peace with his neighbor.  Mr. Nolli stated he did not think 10 feet of landscaping was going
to make a difference. Ms. Starke asked the size of the surrounding parcels and if they had full
use of their property.  Ms. Spivey asked Mr. Nolli if he had considered a fence for privacy.  Mr.
Nolli said he has a shadow box fence on three sides of the property. Vice-Chair Davis asked if
any changes to the property would cause alarm. Mr. Nolli said if someone goes outside the
proposed area, there is no way to enforce it properly. Dr. Frisbee asked what was being done
for safety compliance on the property. Mr. Nolli stated he has had no issues in the past six
years, and it is a peaceful place. Vice-Chair Davis asked if the only entrance was from the
front. Mr. Nolli confirmed.

Public comment: Tim O'Connell, resident, sworn, stated the whole problem is with the
Edgartown ordinance.  He said Pierced Cider is not supposed to be an outdoor concert venue,
and he wants the ordinance enforced.  Mr. Oc'Connell stated if Pierced Cider wants more
seating he should build a bigger building.

Holly Theuns, resident, sworn, stated everything was good with Pierced Cider until they
started having outdoor concerts during COVID. She said the owner knew the rules when he
bought the business, and he needed to follow the ordinance. Ms. Theuns said Pierced Cider
is not an event space and the business is ruining their homes. She asked the Board to deny
the application. 

Cynthia O'Connell, resident, sworn, said they were told Pierced Cider would be an eclectic
bar, with an 800 square foot area for a singer/songwriter.  She said she gave Mr. Nolli a copy
of the Edgartown ordinance and noted acoustic music was okay. Ms. O'Connell said the other
neighbors were afraid to complain because they did not want to get in the middle of
the dispute.  Ms. O'Connell asked the Board to deny the application.

Applicant final comments: Mr. Nolli said Pierced Cider did have live music on the stage during
COVID, but they have not used the stage in two years. He said they have a solo musician
and, once in a while, a duo. Mr. Nolli highlighted that Pierced Cider is a very quiet place and
the concerts were in the past. Mr. Nolli said he would like to have events like a wedding, but
the confined space would not allow it. He said the neighborhood originally wanted a brewery
and now they don't.  He noted the only way to keep the business going is to utilize the
property he has.  

100 NORTH US 1, FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34950  • CITYOFFORTPIERCE.COM • TEL: 772.467.3000 • FAX: 772.466.5808

Minutes of Historic Preservation Board - March 25, 2024
Page 3 



Staff final comments: Mr. Freeman rounded up what was discussed.  He said the application
deals with the space available on site that can be used for outdoor entertainment.  The code
is restrictive to 800 square feet.  The purpose of the Conditional Use application is to expand
the outdoor entertainment area. Mr. Freeman said staff took preliminary measurements of the
site and came up with a 5,000 square foot area.  The applicant said that was not enough, and
he asked for the whole of the outdoor area to be allowed for outdoor entertainment. Mr.
Freeman stated the issue is whether the expansion of 800 feet is acceptable and, if
acceptable, the extent of the outdoor entertainment area.

Chairman Hayek, seeing no one else, closed the public hearing. 

Comments by the Board: Ms. Starke said she thinks Mr. Nolli is being reasonable, and she
does not see anything wrong with being eclectic, which includes drawing people together at a
brewery with music.  Vice-Chair Davis said the Board is stuck in the middle of a neighborhood
dispute. She thinks the issue is sound and that is not the request. Vice-Chair Davis said the
suggestion from the public comment is that the Board tells businesses if they come to Fort
Pierce and the neighbors don't like it, they have to leave. She told the Board to stick to the
relevant information of what the application states and not consider all the outside things.
Vice-Chair Davis concluded that even if the application is approved or not approved, they are
still going to have problems in the neighborhood because they do not get along. Dr. Frisbee
said if the issue is about space, you can have noise in 800 square feet at as loud as you can
have noise in 5,000 square feet.  If it is about space, the space should be used.

 
  Motion was made by Andrea Anicito, and seconded by Vice-Chair KeAndrea Davis to

approve the Conditional Use for 411 N. 2nd Street allowing for deviation from City
Code section 125-197 (j) to allow for 5,000 square feet of exterior space to be used and for
the Conditional Use to run with the property following all provisions of Chapter 26. 

  AYE:  Anthony Westbury, Betty Jo Starke, Patrece Frisbee, Minnie Spivey, Andrea Anicito,
Vice-Chair KeAndrea Davis 

Other:  Chairman Charlie Hayek (ABSTAIN) 
Passed 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS
 
a. Administratively Approved Certificates of Appropriateness - January 2024   

 
b. Open Government Presentation

Ms. Hedges gave a presentation on Sunshine Law, Public Records and Voting Conflicts of
Interest. 

She discussed the three basic requirements for a meeting, and she noted Board members do
not want to have shade meetings because of accidental conversations.  Ms. Hedges stated
Sunshine Law does not apply to fact-finding meetings, but since the City of Fort Pierce does
not have any fact-finding boards, all boards have to abide by the Sunshine Law.  Ms. Hedges
said ex-officio members are subject to Sunshine Law even if they don't vote and Sunshine
Law does not apply to discussions with staff members as long as another Board member is
not present.  She explained that a Board member cannot use others as a liaison to have
communication with other members of the Board. Ms. Hedges explained the types of
communication constituting a meeting, which are telephone conversations, text
conversations, e-mails, public social media posts, and private social media communication. 

  

100 NORTH US 1, FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34950  • CITYOFFORTPIERCE.COM • TEL: 772.467.3000 • FAX: 772.466.5808

Minutes of Historic Preservation Board - March 25, 2024
Page 4 



conversations, e-mails, public social media posts, and private social media communication. 
Ms. Hedges said, technically, a Board member can have one way of communication, but once
there is a response from the group or one individual, a meeting is triggered and Sunshine Law
applies.  Ms. Hedges explained there are rules in place for meetings and the public has to
have reasonable opportunities for public comment. Ms. Hedges discussed the prohibited
restrictions on meetings.  She said the Board cannot ask someone to voluntarily leave a
meeting, they cannot ban videotaping and recording, they cannot require an identification card
for attending a meeting and they cannot have a secret ballot. Ms. Hedges explained the
consequences of violating the Sunshine Law and the penalties.

Ms. Hedges reviewed the Florida Public Records Act.  She said a public record must be
disclosed unless there is a statutory exemption or confidentiality reason.  Ms. Hedges
provided the definition of public records, and she explained that personal notes that
perpetuate knowledge of some type are considered a public record.  Ms. Hedges suggested
the Board members keep a separate e-mail address for board matters or create a board
folder in their personal email account. Ms. Hedges explained that all public records have a
specific retention schedule. She said the best practice is to keep anything related to the board
and not to alter it. Ms. Hedges said there is a cost associated with public requests and the city
can not ask who or why they are making the request.  She said the request can be verbal and
the production of the request cannot be delayed except for the reasonable time it takes to
retrieve and redact the records.  Ms. Hedges said there are penalties for not complying with
the public records laws.

Ms. Hedges explained the Voting Conflicts of Interest, and she said a board member cannot
abstain from voting unless there is a conflict of interest. She said if a Board member has an
issue with an agenda item, they should call the city attorney's office as soon as possible to
decide if there is a conflict of interest.   Ms. Hedges noted that with a quasi-judicial
proceeding, a Board member may abstain from voting if the abstention is to assure a fair
proceeding from potential bias or prejudice. Ms. Hedges said a voting conflict of interest
exists when voting on any matter that would lead to the special private gain or loss of the
person voting, their relative, their business associate, or a principal by whom they are
retained. She reviewed the factors considered when determining whether a special private
gain or loss exists and the additional conflicts of interest.  Ms. Hedges said if a Board member
has a conflict, to announce it to the board, abstain from voting and fill out the Memorandum of
Voting Conflict form 8b. She said a Board member can participate even if they have a conflict,
but she recommends the Board member remove them self from the dais for a fair proceeding.
Ms. Hedges concluded by staying 1,000 feet away from the line with voting conflicts of
interest.

 
7. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

There were no comments from the public.
 
8. CONSIDERATION OF ABSENCES

All members were in attendance.
 
9. ADJOURNMENT
 

100 NORTH US 1, FORT PIERCE, FLORIDA 34950  • CITYOFFORTPIERCE.COM • TEL: 772.467.3000 • FAX: 772.466.5808

Minutes of Historic Preservation Board - March 25, 2024
Page 5 






	MinCharlie Hayek Recusal Form

